INSTITUTE OF SOCIAL STUDIES

Working Paper Series No. 259

POVERTY AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT: WHAT DOES THE FUTURE HOLD?

Lucia Hanmer, Niek de Jong, Rachel Kurian and Jos Mooij

October 1997

The Institute of Social Studies is Europe's longest-established centre of higher education and research in development studies. Post-graduate teaching programmes range from six-week diploma courses to the PhD programme. Research at the ISS is fundamental in the sense of laying a scientific basis for the formulation of appropriate development policies. The academic work of the Institute is disseminated in the form of books, journal articles, teaching texts, monographs and working papers. The Working Paper series provides a forum for work in progress which seeks to elicit comments and generate discussion. The series includes the research of staff and visiting fellows, and outstanding research papers by graduate students.

For a list of available Working Papers and how to order them see the back of this Working Paper.

For further information contact:

Publications Office - Institute of Social Studies - P.O. Box 29776
2502LT The Hague - The Netherlands - FAX: +31 70 4260799
e-mail #publication_dept@iss.nl (Attn: Publications Assistant)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. PAST TRENDS IN POVERTY AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT	3
3. PROJECTIONS OF POVERTY AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT	6
3.1. Literature review	6
3.2 Modelling poverty and human development	10
3.3 Projections of future economic growth	13
4. FUTURE POVERTY AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT	16
4.1 Poverty in the year 2105	16
4.2 Human development in the year 2015	
4.3 Policy orientation, poverty and human development	
4.4 Discussion	
5. CONCLUDING REMARKS	30
REFERENCES	34
TOCHNICAL ADDENDIV	36



POVERTY AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT: WHAT DOES THE FUTURE HOLD?

Lucia Hanmer, Niek de Jong, Rachel Kurian and Jos Mooij $^{\mathrm{1}}$ Institute of Social Studies, The Hague

Abstract

What will the level of poverty and human development in the world's developing regions be in the next century? We present projections of poverty and selected human development indicators for the year 2015 for three policy variants - pro-poor policy, neutral policy and anti-poor policy - and four growth scenarios. The projections show poverty will remain a major problem in many world regions. Indicators of human development improve considerably, although sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia continue to lag behind the other regions. We find policy orientation can be as important as economic growth to reduce poverty and increase human development.

1. INTRODUCTION

Poverty and social development are back on the international political agenda. While in the 1980s the main international development agencies, such as the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund, were primarily interested in how to promote economic growth, by the 1990s it increasingly came to be recognised that more attention needed to be given to social development. This shift in emphasis is, for example, reflected by the large number of world summits that have been organised since 1990 on issues related to social development; housing, population, education, environment, women, food. In 1995, the World Summit on Social Development held in Copenhagen put poverty and social development prominently on the agenda, by defining social development as the reduction and elimination of

¹ The authors would like to acknowledge the support of the Swedish International Development Agencies (Sida) who commissioned the report from which this article is drawn. We are also grateful to those present at the seminar organised by Sida to discuss the issues addressed by this article. In particular we would like to thank Gus Edgren, Dag Ehrenpreis, Agneta Lind, Cynthia Hewitt de Alcántara, Jack van Holst Pellekaan, Diane Elson, Andrea Cornia and Stefan de Vylder.

widespread poverty, the increase of productive employment and the enhancement of social integration (UN, 1994). And the United Nations declared 1996 the "International Year for the Eradication of Poverty" and established the decade 1997-2006 as the first decade for the Eradication of poverty (UNESCO, 1996:155).

Given the concern of the international community for poverty alleviation and social development, a relevant question is: what progress can we expect on these fronts? What are the current trends in poverty and social development in the various regions of the world, and where will they lead in 15 or 20 years time? Where, and under what circumstances, is poverty likely to increase and where might we expect greatest progress in its reduction? The answers to these questions are extremely important, primarily to people who live in marginal circumstances, but also to policy makers and other development practitioners. Can positive trends in poverty eradication and human development be strengthened? Is it possible to improve human development indicators and reduce poverty when economic growth is low? This article provides some answers to these questions.

The research presented here is part of a larger study² commissioned by the Swedish International Development Agency (Sida) as part of the Sida *Project 2015*.³ In this article we limit ourselves to a discussion of econometric models to estimate future poverty and future human development. As far as the latter is concerned, we project future values of school enrolment rates, literacy rates and life expectancy. The definition of human development we use thus draws on the concept of human development that is elaborated by the United Nations Development Programme in their *Human Development Reports* (UNDP, various years). Future social development is not, of course, captured by trends in human development indicators alone. Other factors that are likely to effect future social development, including political instability and war, gender, specific government policies

² Lucia Hanmer, Niek de Jong, Rachel Kurian and Jos Mooij, Social Development: Past Trends and future scenarios, Stockholm: Sida (1997). The report has a broader thematic coverage than this article.

³ Project 2015 is a major review of the socio-economic environment in which Swedish development assistance strategies operate. It aims to delineate the most important characteristics of the global political economy in 2015 and assesses the role of international development agencies in this future world (Frühling 1996).

and some technological and environmental changes are discussed in our full report *Social Development: Past Trends and Future Scenarios* (Hanmer *et al.*, 1997).

The article proceeds as follows. A brief overview of past developments is given in Section 2, where poverty estimates and various human development (HD) indicators are presented for the major developing regions. Most of this article, however, is about the future. To estimate poverty rates and levels of HD indicators for the year 2015 we use simple econometric models. We start from the regional economic growth projections produced by the Dutch Central Planning Bureau and the World Bank. On the basis of past correlations between economic growth on the one hand and poverty reduction and HD indicator improvement on the other, we specify the models used to produce our projections. The models are described in more detail in Section 3. The outcomes of the models are subsequently discussed in Section 4. We present projections of regional poverty incidence, the associated numbers of poor people and regional levels of some selected HD indicators, viz. combined school enrolment rate, literacy and life expectancy. The projections are made for three policy variants: pro-poor policy, neutral policy and anti-poor policy. Finally, in Section 5, we draw some conclusions and point out some caveats that should be borne in mind when considering our results.

2. PAST TRENDS IN POVERTY AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT.

Trends in HD indicators over the past 20 to 30 years in the major regions of the world show that progress has been made almost everywhere, in almost every respect. Life expectancy has, on average, increased by more than 10 years in all developing countries. Infant mortality has been reduced by more than 50 per cent. And adult literacy has increased from 43% to 61%. Table 1 provides more details of these major achievements.

Although there have been overall improvements, the table shows that the situation in sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia is still bleak as compared to other developing regions. Life expectancy in sub-Saharan Africa is particularly low, and the infant mortality rate is very high. In South Asia more that half of all children under five years old are underweight, and more than

Table 1 Trends in human development indicators

	Sub- Saharan	Arab	South	East	East Asia exc.	S.E. Asia and	America and Carib-	Least	All develop- ing	Eastern Europe	countries (incl E. Europe	
	Africa	States	Asia	Asia	China	Pacific	bean	countries	countries	and CIS	and CIS)	World
Life expectancy												
(years).	9	į	;	9	i	ţ	i i	ć	Š	ţ	(ć
1960	40	45	4	48	55	45	55	36	46	19	69	20
1993	51	62	09	69	71	64	69	51	62	69	74	63
Infant mortality rate (per thousand births)												
1960	167	167	164	146	83	127	107	173	150	:	:	;
1993	76	99	84	42	18	53	45	110	70	:	:	:
Access to safe water (%)												
1975-80	25	69	27	70	70	15	09	21	40	:	:	:
1990-95	43	9/	71	94	94	63	81	38	89	:	;	:
Underweight children (< 5 years old, %)	ars old, %)											
1975	31	20	69	26	:	46	16	51	40	:	:	:
1985-95	31	11	51	17	:	37	10	45	30	:	:	:
Adult literacy rate (%)												
1970	27	59	31	88	88	65	71	28	43	:	:	:
1993	55	55	48	86	86	98	85	47	61	:	:	:
Enrolment ratio, all levels (age 6-23, %)	e 6-23, %)											
1980	39	48	37	51	92	51	59	31	46	:	:	:
1990	36	55	45	44	73	54	62	31	47	:	:	:
Real GDP per capita (PPP\$)												
1960	066	931	869	729	698	732	2,138	561	915	:	:	:
1993	1.379	4.263	1.576	2.681	11.088	3.680	5.816	887	2.709	;		

Source: UNDP (1996), Human Development Report 1996

half of all adults are illiterate. Adult literacy is lower in South Asia than in any other region of the world.

What is also striking is that 20-30 years ago, the variation in most of the HD indicators across the regions of the world was less marked than it is in the 1990s. So improvements in the overall average have been accompanied by relative deterioration, particularly for sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia.

While it is relatively straightforward to investigate regional trends in many HD indicators, it is, however, much more difficult to analyse trends in poverty. There are no comparable data on poverty in various regions of the world spanning the past 20 to 30 years. Recently, the World Bank has developed a more or less consistent poverty data base using a common extreme poverty line that allows comparisons to be made across countries (see World Bank World Development Report, 1990). It is based on a US\$1 per person per day cut-off point and employs purchasing power parity (PPP) indices based on consumption. The poverty rates in Table 2 are calculated using this method. They show regional trends in poverty between 1987 and 1993. The data suggest that in this relatively short time span the percentage of poor people has hardly changed. The absolute number of poor people shows, however, an increase of 7 per cent. In 1987 1,227 million people were poor, while in 1993 the number stood at 1,314 million.

⁴ The methodology involves that consumption measured in US\$ per person is converted into consumption measured in local currency, using an exchange rate that takes into account the difference in purchasing power of the US dollar between countries.

Table 2 Regional Estimates of Extreme Poverty (percentage of people with income below \$1 PPP a day).

Regions	1987	1990	1993
East Asia and the Pacific	28.2	28.5	26.0
(excluding China)	(23.2)	(17.6)	(13.7)
Eastern Europe and Central Asia	0.6	n.a.	3.5
Latin American and the Caribbean	22.0	23.0	23.5
Middle East and North Africa	4.7	4.3	4.1
South Asia	45.4	43.0	43.1
Sub-Saharan Africa	38.5	39.3	39.1
Total	30.1	n.a.	29.4
Total (excluding ECA)	33.3	32.9	31.8

Source: World Bank, 1996b:4

3. PROJECTIONS OF POVERTY AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

This section outlines the methodology we use to produce estimates of future levels of poverty and human development indicators. The section starts with a brief review of the literature on this topic. Next, we describe the key characteristics of our models and finally we detail the various economic growth rate projections on which our projections of poverty and human development are based.

3.1. Literature review.

The literature review that follows is based on a small number of studies which use projections of economic growth and a poverty elasticity (or HD coefficient) - *i.e.* the percentage decrease in the poverty incidence (or change in HD indicator) which results from a one per cent increase in per capita GDP - to estimate future poverty rates. In this review we focus particularly on one aspect of these studies, namely the poverty (or HD) elasticity. What is its value, and on what does this value depend?

To our knowledge only one such projection has been made recently that includes all developing regions of the world,⁵ namely Hopkins' study of trends in absolute poverty until the year 2000 (Hopkins, 1980). 6 Hopkins' projections are based on two poverty lines, a uniform PPP food poverty line and a basic needs poverty line. The food poverty line used is one defined by the World Bank which takes the income level of the 40th percentile of the income distribution in India in 1975 as its benchmark. The basic needs poverty line is calculated to include expenditures on housing, education and health in addition to food. Regional average poverty lines are calculated assuming an absence of purchasing power differences within regions. The methodology used for the projections is very simple. It assumes that trend economic growth rates (approximated by the annual growth rates of private consumption) between 1960 and 1975 continue until 2000; that income distribution (measured by Lorenz curve for each region) remains unchanged; and, that population grows according to the UN "low" population projections. The projections are thus made for a distributionally neutral pattern of growth. A poverty elasticity is implicit in the methodology, although it is not specified. Poverty in the year 2000 in the developing world (excluding China) is projected to be 754 million using the food poverty line and 1,083 million using the basic needs poverty line. Hopkins acknowledges that these results may be over optimistic as annual growth rates between 1960-75 were high compared to later years.

Ravallion and Huppi (1991), Kakwani (1993a) and Ravallion and Sen (1996) use poverty elasticities in their country level studies of poverty in, respectively, Indonesia, Côte d'Ivoire and Bangladesh. In the Bangladesh study, poverty elasticities are estimated with respect to changes in mean rural and urban consumption (relative to the poverty line), under alternative assumptions regarding the pattern of growth. Three patterns of growth are identified: (1) *inequitable growth*, i.e. growth with rising inequality, as observed over the period 1983/84 to 1991/92; (2) *neutral growth*, i.e. growth with unchanged inequality,

⁵ China is not included due to lack of data.

⁶ In his study Hopkins refers to earlier studies projecting growth and poverty.

and; (3) *equitable growth*, i.e. growth combined with a modest reduction in inequality. The poverty elasticities are in the range -0.7 to -1.9.

The elasticities of neutral growth in Bangladesh are small compared to those estimated for Indonesia for the mid-1980s by Ravallion and Huppi (1991). In the case of Indonesia the estimated poverty elasticity was -2.05 for 1984 and even higher for 1987, although its exact value has not been reported. The 1987 elasticity is used to project the change in poverty in Indonesia after 1987 (see Ravallion and Huppi, 1991).

The two studies are not fully comparable, however, because they do not use the same poverty line. The Indonesian study uses the \$1 PPP a day poverty line, while the Bangladesh study uses another poverty line. Poverty elasticities are sensitive to the choice of poverty lines. Other things remaining equal, the absolute value of the poverty elasticity is higher the lower the poverty line.

Apart from the level of the poverty line, the poverty elasticity is also sensitive to the distribution of incomes. Other things remaining equal, the poverty elasticity is higher the more equal the income distribution. The literature shows that there are a number of different methodologies that can be used to ensure poverty projections are comparable, both between countries and over time.

The sensitivity of the poverty elasticity to the poverty line for a given income distribution is demonstrated by Kakwani (1993a) on the basis of 1985 data for Côte d'Ivoire. This study uses two different poverty lines which identify the poorest 10 per cent and poorest 30 per cent of the total population of Côte d'Ivoire. The estimated elasticities of poverty with respect to mean income are -2.95 for the low poverty line and -1.5 for the high poverty line. Kakwani projects poverty from 1986 to 1990 on the basis of estimated poverty elasticities and projected growth rates of GDP per capita, using however a poverty measure other than the head-count index.

The review of these studies shows that poverty elasticities can be expected to fall within a wide range of values. Their magnitude will depend on the level of the poverty line used and equality of income distribution, as well as country or regionally specific political and economic characteristics that effect poverty.

Turning now to human development indicators, Pritchett and Summers (1996) estimate the effect of income (GDP per capita in 1985 PPP dollars) on infant and child mortality and life expectancy, using cross-country data from the period 1960-85. The authors use a double-log specification in five-year differences and estimate the model using instrumental variables (IVs). First-differences are used to eliminate the potential impact of country specific time invariant variables related to both income and health and, hence, to reduce the effect of excluded variables on the coefficients on the income IVs.7 The instrumental variables estimation technique shows that the relationship between income and health variables is a stable, causal one, as opposed to a merely associative one or one created by reverse causation. The total elasticity of infant and child mortality with respect to income is estimated to lie in the range -0.2 to -0.4. The estimated elasticity for life expectancy is much smaller and not significant at the 5 per cent level. Pritchett and Summers quote results of other studies, that arrived at partial income elasticities of infant and child mortality, in contrast to their total elasticities, which range from -0.16 to -0.27. They also refer to the results of a study by Kakwani (1993b), who found much larger total income elasticities of infant mortality, namely ranging between -0.5 and -0.6. These elasticities are estimated on the basis of a specification in levels, rather than in first-differences. Kakwani's estimates fall in the range of elasticities estimated by Pritchett and Summers, when levels are used. Results of other studies on the income elasticity of life expectancy indicate a higher elasticity than found by Pritchett and Summers.

⁷ In the authors' words: "... one would expect that the estimated relationship would change when different variables, related to income but not directly related either to health or to the lurking "third" variable, were used to instrument for income changes in estimating their association with mortality changes" (Pritchett and Summers, 1996: 848). The instrumental variables that were used for income growth are: terms-of-trade shocks, the ratio of investment to GDP, the black market premium for foreign exchange and the deviation of the official exchange rate from its PPP level.

Pritchett and Summers use their estimated elasticities to simulate the effect that alternative growth paths in the 1980s (1% higher level of GDP, 1% higher growth of GDP, same growth as in 1960-80) would have had on infant and child mortality in developing countries. One of their findings is that if Africa had maintained its pre-1980 growth rates, it could have averted 400-700 thousand child deaths in 1990 alone.

We are not aware of studies in which projections are made of life expectancy, school enrolment and literacy on the basis of estimated coefficients and projected growth of GDP per capita. The study that comes closest to such an exercise is UNDP (1996), which develops some simple econometric models to explain variation in adult literacy, life expectancy and school enrolment across countries. The models are specified with a lagged relationship between income and the HD indicators. In some models non-income variables are included in the explanatory variables, although not all of them were found to be significant.

3.2 Modelling poverty and human development

The elasticities and parameters we use in our projections of poverty and HD indicators for the year 2015 are estimated with models that use respectively 1985/1990 and 1993 cross section data for developing countries. Subsequently, the models we use for the projections combine forecasts of economic growth for the major developing regions with the estimated elasticities and other model parameters to produce future poverty rates and levels of HD indicators in these regions. These projections are thus only meaningful if past relationships between economic and social variables can be extrapolated into the future. We turn to briefly outline the key features of the models used in this study (see Appendix 1 for the technical details).

Limited internationally comparable data exist on poverty incidence at the country level. Our study uses the data set produced by Chen, Datt and Ravallion (1994), which gives the incidence of poverty based on an internationally comparable poverty line of \$1 PPP per day. The advantage of using the \$1 PPP per day line is that it controls for the variation in

the poverty elasticity estimates that can occur due to differences in the real value of the poverty line used in different countries. The data set contains poverty incidence estimates for 46 countries, mostly for both 1985 and 1990. The total number of observations is 84. Using a double log functional form, the regression of the incidence of poverty on real per capita GDP (in constant PPP dollars), yields estimates of the poverty elasticity. Investigation showed that the size of the elasticity varied according to the country's Gini coefficient. The absolute value of the poverty elasticity was greater for countries with more equal income distribution, as measured by the Gini coefficient, 8 which is consistent with the findings of the Bangladesh study cited above. Dividing the sample into three groups of countries, with, respectively, low income inequality (Gini coefficient less than 0.4), medium income inequality (Gini coefficient between 0.4 and 0.5) and high inequality (Gini coefficient greater than 0.5), yields poverty elasticities with values of around -1.5, -1 and -0.5 respectively. The projections of poverty for the year 2015 are based on poverty elasticities of -1.5, -1.0 and -0.5. Poverty elasticities are hence low in comparison to the results for Indonesia (-2%) and Côte d'Ivoire (-3%), especially considering that the \$1PPP is an extreme (low) poverty line. However, the results are roughly in the range reported for Bangladesh. As indicated above in Section 3.1, the value of the poverty elasticities crucially depends on the level of the poverty line and the income distribution.

The Human Development Report (UNDP, various years) provides the data set for the indicators of human development. Again, we use observations from two points in time, 1993 and an earlier year, to investigate the relationship between per capita GDP and HD indicators. A model that includes only per capita GDP as a determinant of levels of HD indicators might reasonably be thought to be underspecified. However, cross-section regression results show that the effects of other factors, such as government social

⁸ According to Datt and Ravallion (1992:287), a conventional measure of inequality (like the Gini coefficient), "can be a poor guide to the way distributional shifts can affect the poverty measures." Instead they use Lorenz curves as a basis to compare differences in inequality over time or between countries. Since such Lorenz curves are not available for (all) the 46 countries in the data set, we use the Gini index .

⁹ A formal F-test for parameter stability indicates that pooling the sub-samples of countries classified according to their Gini coefficient is not valid (see the Technical Appendix).

expenditures and income inequality, are statistically insignificant in determining the level of most HD indicators. 10

Exploratory data analysis techniques showed that the model for HD indicators was best specified by a semi-log functional form. The income parameter estimated using this functional form is not an elasticity; instead the responsiveness of the HD indicator to economic growth varies with the level of development. At low levels of GDP per capita, economic growth produces larger increases in HD indicators than at higher ones. ¹¹ Using a semi-log functional form, the cross section regressions of literacy, life expectancy and school enrolment on per capita GDP produces the parameters that are used to project HD indicators. Exploring parameter stability in the HDI model produced two interesting results. ¹² First, the slope coefficient decreased over time and second, the intercept term shifted upwards over time. These two results are incorporated into the simulation model by including a quadratic GDP per capita term to capture the reduced effect of increases in per capita GDP over time and an autonomous component to capture the upward shift of the intercept over time.

The change in the slope coefficients between the two time periods shows that the HD indicators become less responsive to economic growth. To achieve a one unit improvement in an HD indicator in 1990, more economic growth is necessary than would have been required in, say, 1970. Also, HD indicators are less responsive to increases in per capita income as a country reaches higher levels of per capita income, as they tend towards their maximum possible level.

¹⁰ Regression models that include public expenditures on health and education as a fraction of GDP were estimated. The coefficients for these variables were found to be statistically insignificant. Similar models are estimated by UNDP (1996) with similar results. This could be because it is often the allocation of expenditure within sectors which determines whether social sector spending results in improved HD indicators (World Bank, 1990; 1993). Thus the aggregate value of social expenditure or share of the government's budget devoted to health and education may not be a good indicator of the benefits of these services to the mass of the population.

If the model is: HD = $\beta_0 + \beta_1 \log GDPpc$, then dHD/dGDPpc = $\beta_1/GDPpc$.

No comparable data exist for the combined enrolment rate for an earlier year. Hence, the comparisons are made for adult literacy and life expectancy only. See Technical Appendix.

The change in the intercept term for HD indicators can be interpreted as the effect of technological change, increased knowledge, political factors or changes in public action on HD indicators. These factors may explain that even at low levels of per capita income on average countries have higher HD indicators in 1993 than countries with equivalent levels of per capita income would have had in an earlier year. As technological, scientific and other changes are also likely to occur in the years to come, we may expect the intercept term to shift further upwards.

The estimated coefficients of per capita GDP are, of course, averages for the cross section of countries. In order to capture the fact that in some countries HD indicator levels diverge from the expected value we varied the coefficients by one standard error. Each growth scenario, hence, has three variants: neutral policy, pro-poor policy and an anti-poor policy. The neutral policy variant is one where policy reflects average past trends. In the pro-poor variant the coefficient is increased by one standard error and, hence, economic growth has a larger impact on HD indicators than in the base (neutral policy) case. In the anti-poor policy variant one standard error is deducted from the coefficient. This means economic growth has less effect on HD indicators than in the base case scenario.

3.3 Projections of future economic growth

To estimate poverty and levels of HD indicators for the year 2015 we use the projected long term regional growth rates forecast by the World Bank (1996a) and the Dutch Central Planning Bureau (CPB, 1992). The World bank develops one future scenario, while the CPB envisages different future scenarios. ¹³ These scenarios differ mainly in their underlying assumptions concerning growth rates in the major industrialised regions and subsequent spread effects to the developing regions. Trends in various regions of the world, including demographic trends, trends in natural resources depletion and environmental degradation, internationalisation, and social and political trends are also incorporated into

¹³ Only 3 out of 4 CPB scenarios are used in this study, as we were unable to obtain the assumptions made about population growth in the fourth scenario.

the scenarios. However, the main emphasis is on economic development. The main characteristics of the four scenarios we use are summarised below.

World Bank (WB)

The World Bank projects economic growth rates until the year 2005. They reflect the growth outlook that would materialise provided some generally optimistic assumptions are fulfilled, current reform policies continue and the political situation does not deteriorate. They also assume continued policy adjustments in non-industrial countries.

Balanced Growth (BG)

The BG scenario is the most optimistic of all the CPB scenarios. The main industrialised countries grow at around 3% per annum. The model assumes that the spread effects of growth spill over to benefit developing regions. BG is the most optimistic forecast for sub-Saharan Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean, Eastern Europe and Asia (but the Asian NICs grow slightly faster in other scenarios).

European Renaissance (EU)

Western European growth is projected to be high in the EU scenario. With the shift of the economic centre of gravity to Europe and Japan, Eastern Europe and Africa do well. Asia still grows rapidly but Latin America grows at a lower rate than in all the other scenarios. *Global Shift (GS)*

In the GS scenario the centre of economic activity shifts from Europe towards North America and Japan. This produces the most favourable growth scenario for the Asian region, while Latin America benefits from North American growth. Africa and Eastern Europe grow more slowly than in the BG scenario.

The first column of Table 3 shows the average annual compound growth rates of GDP according to the World Bank and CPB scenarios, while the second column shows the average annual compound growth rate of the population for the major developing regions: Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), the Middle East and North Africa (MENA), East Asia and the Pacific (EA&P), South Asia (SA), Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) and Eastern

Table 3 Annual compound growth rates of GDP, Population and GDP per capita

GDP Growth					Pop Gi	owth			GDP pe	r capita	growth r	ate			
World Bank															
	91/93	94	95	96/15	90/95	95/00	00/15		91/93	93/94	94/95	95/00	00/15		
SSA	0.7	1.7	3.8	3.8	3.03	2.85	2.72		-2.33	-1.33	0.77	0.95	1.08		
MENA	2.4	2.1	2.5	2.9	2.53	2.53	2.28		-0.13	-0.43	-0.03	0.37	0.62		
EA&P	9.4	9.7	9.2	7.9	1.32	1.21	0.97		8.08	8.38	7.88	6.69	6.93		
SA	3.9	5.7	5.5	5.4	2.14	2.02	1.77		1.76	3.56	3.36	3.38	3.63		
LAC	3.6	4.9	0.9	3.8	1.85	1.68	1.43		1.75	3.05	-0.95	2.12	2.37		
EEUR	-9	-8.4	-0.7	4.3	0.17	0.21	0.25		-9.17	-8.57	-0.87	4.09	4.05		
Balanced growth	J								BG scer	nario ²					
	T			95/15	95/00	00/05	05/10	10/15	91/93	93/94	94/95	95/00	00/05	05/10	10/1
SSA				4.85	3.07	2.83	2.48	2.09	-2.33	-1.33	0.77	1.78	2.02	2.37	2.76
MENA				2.59	2.29	2.04	1.80	1.59	-0.13	-0.43	-0.03	0.29	0.55	0.79	1.00
EA&P				7.00	0.61	0.41	0.30	0.25	8.08	8.38	7.88	6.39	6.59	6.70	6.75
SA				6.10	0.38	0.44	0.40	0.32	1.76	3.56	3.36	5.72	5.66	5.70	5.78
LAC				5.60	1.50	1.36	1.24	1.10	1.75	3.05	-0.95	4.10	4.24	4.36	4.50
EEUR				2.19	0.59	0.56	0.51	0.47	-9.17	-8.57	-0.87	1.60	1.63	1.68	1.72
European Renaiss	ance								EU scei	nario ³					
SSA		1000		4.02	3.26	3.17	2.97	2.69	-2.33	-1.33	0.77	0.76	0.85	1.04	1.33
MENA				3.50	2.72	2.50	2.28	2.03	-0.13	-0.43	-0.03	0.78	1.00	1.22	1.47
EA&P				6.16	0.73	0.57	0.45	0.41	8.08	8.38	7.88	5.43	5.59	5.71	5.75
SA				4.90	2.11	1.90	1.67	1.43	1.76	3.56	3.36	2.79	3.00	3.23	3.47
LAC				2.80	1.79	1.64	1.51	1.38	1.75	3.05	-0.95	1.01	1.16	1.29	1.42
EEUR				3.09	0.59	0.56	0.51	0.47	-9.17	-8.57	-0.87	2.50	2.54	2.58	2.63
Global Shift									GS sce	nario ⁴					
SSA				2.90	3.20	3.12	2.96	2.70	-2.33	-1.33	0.77	-0.30	-0.22	-0.07	0.20
MENA				3.60	2.66	2.45	2.26	2.03	-0.13	-0.43	-0.03	0.94	1.15	1.34	1.57
EA&P				7.25	0.69	0.53	0.39	0.34	8.08	8.38	7.88	6.56	6.72	6.86	6.91
SA				6.50	2.11	1.90	1.67	1.43	1.76	3.56	3.36	4.39	4.60	4.83	5.07
LAC				4.25	1.79	1.64	1.51	1.38	1.75	3.05	-0.95	2.46	2.61	2.74	2.87
EEUR				0.32	0.44	0.40	0.43	0.43	-9.17	-8.57	-0.87	-0.12	-0.08	-0.12	-0.1

(1) Realized rates of per capita economic growth in 1991-1995 in all scenarios is calculated from growth rates of GDP reported in World Bank (1996) and population growth as reported in ILO (1996). In the WB scenario, projected growth of GDP is combined with UN population projections reported in ILO (1996) to project future GDP per capita growth. Economic growth rates projected until 2005 and population growth rates until 2010 are extended until 2015. (2) Demographic trends are based on the medium variant of United Nations forecasts, but a rapidly declining fertility rate is assumed. (3) The medium variant of the United Nations projected population growth rates is used. (4) The demographic trend differs from the medium variant of the United Nations as rapidly declining fertility in Asia and migration from East and South to Western Europe and the USA are assumed.

Europe (EEUR). The final column shows the realized per capita growth rates in 1991-1995, taken from world bank (1996) and calculated per capita GDP growth rates for the time period 1995-2015.

Table 3 shows that for some regions projections of the future GDP per capita growth vary considerably. For example, growth in sub-Saharan Africa ranges between 0.2% and about 3% under CPB scenarios, compared to 1% for the World Bank's scenario, between 2000 and 2015. And growth in Eastern Europe ranges between -0.1% and about 3% under CPB scenarios compared to 4% under the World Bank's scenario over the same time period.

All the scenarios show the Asian region achieving growth rates which are well above their rates of population growth. Japan is the most dynamic industrial economy in every scenario. There are no pessimistic forecasts for the Asian region in any of the scenarios. When economic activity shifts towards Japan and North America (the Global Shift scenario) growth is forecast to be highest in the Asian region. The Balanced Growth scenario shows the most optimistic outcome for Eastern Europe, Africa and Latin America.

4. FUTURE POVERTY AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

4.1 Poverty in the year 2105.

Table 4 shows the projected poverty incidence and projected absolute numbers of poor in 2015 calculated under different assumptions about the pattern of growth. A pro-poor growth pattern is represented by a high elasticity of the poverty incidence with respect to GDP per capita (b = -1.5), a neutral growth pattern is represented by a unitary poverty elasticity (b = -1), and an anti-poor growth pattern by a low poverty elasticity (b = -0.5).

Table 4. Poverty in the year 2015 under different scenarios

		Poverty 1	Incidenc	e (%)				Number o	of Poor (in milli	ons)	
		A	ctual			2015		1	Actual			2015
		1987	1990	1993	b = -0.5	b=-1	b = -1.5	1987	1990	1993	b = -0.5	b=-1
WB	SSA	38.5	39.3	39.1	35.2	31.7	28.5	149.7	187.5	198.0	325.9	293.4
	MENA	4.7	4.3	4.1	3.9	3.6	3.4	8.6	9.7	9.7	15.3	14.5
	EA&P	28.2	28.5	26.0	12.2	5.5	2.4	422.2	477.6	447.2	263.7	120.0
	SA	45.4	43	43.1	29.1	19.5	13.0	461.4	513.0	536.4	542.9	363.8
	LAC	22	23	23.5	18.4	14.4	11.2	83.7	100.9	107.0	116.9	91.3
	EEUR	0.6	na	3.5	2.5	1.7	1.2	2.3	na	14.4	10.7	7.4
D.C.	CCA	20.5	39.3	39.1	31.4	25.2	20.1	149.7	187.5	198.0	283.1	226.8
BG	SSA	38.5		4.1	31.4	3.6	3.4	8.6	9.7	9.7	14.1	13.2
	MENA	4.7 28.2	4.3 28.5	26.0	12.5	5.9	2.7	422.2	477.6	447.2	239.2	112.4
	EA&P		43	43.1	23.7	12.8	6.8	461.4	513.0	536.4	332.2	179.6
	SA	45.4	23	23.5	15.2	9.7	6.2	83.7	100.9	107.0	93.0	59.6
	LAC EEUR	0.6	na	3.5	3.1	2.8	2.4	2.3	na	14.4	14.3	12.7
	дари											
EU	SSA	38.5	39.3	39.1	35.5	32.2	29.2	149.7	187.5	198.0	346.2	314.1
	MENA	4.7	4.3	4.1	3.7	3.3	2.9	8.6	9.7	9.7	14.7	13.2
	EA&P	28.2	28.5	26.0	13.8	7.2	3.7	422.2	477.6	447.2	271.2	141.1
	SA	45.4	43	43.1	30.5	21.5	15.1	461.4	513.0	536.4	563.7	397.2
	LAC	22	23	23.5	20.6	18.0	15.8	83.7	100.9	107.0	133.1	116.5
	EEUR	0.6	na	3.5	2.8	2.3	1.9	2.3	na	14.4	13.1	10.6
GS	SSA	38.5	39.3	39.1	39.6	40.1	40.6	149.7	187.5	198.0	384.2	389.0
30	MENA	4.7	4.3	4.1	3.6	3.2	2.8	8.6	9.7	9.7	14.4	12.7
	EA&P	28.2	28.5	26.0		5.7	2.6	422.2		447.2	240.2	111.0
	SA	45.4	43	43.1		15.6	9.2	461.4	513.0		481.8	288.4
	LAC	22	23	23.5		13.5	10.2	83.7	100.9	107.0	115.3	87.2
	EEUR	0.6	na	3.5		3.9	4.2	2.3	na	14.4	16.7	17.7

Table 5. Regional poverty in the year 2015

Region	Finding	Comments
Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA)	Poverty incidence decreases 7-14% in all scenarios except GS. In the GS scenario poverty incidence in 2015 is roughly unchanged at 40%.	The GS scenario is only mildly pessimistic compared to past trends. All per capita growth rates in GS are higher than those achieved in 1993-5.
	The absolute number of poor people increases in all scenarios and all patterns of growth (except pro-poor BG)	GDP per capita growth must reach 2.8% with a pro-poor pattern for the number of poor people to decrease.
		In other scenarios the number of people in poverty in 2015 increases by 0.7-2 hundred million.
Middle East and North Africa	The poverty incidence falls slightly (0.5 - 1%) from a low base in all scenarios.	In 2015 there are 1.5 million more poor people in the best outcome (GS).
(MENA)	The absolute number of the poor increases in all scenarios	
East Asia and the Pacific (including	Poverty incidence decreases rapidly by 12-22% in all scenarios.	Growth projections are optimistic $(> =5\%)$ per capita). However the pattern of growth makes a great difference to the
China). (EA&P)	The absolute number of poor people declines in all scenarios and decreases from about 4 to 0.5 hundred million if	poverty outcome. Poverty incidence is 12-13% with anti-poor growth, compared to 2-3% with a pro-poor growth pattern.
South Asia (SA)	the pattern of growth is pro-poor. Large decreases (13-36%) in the poverty incidence by 2015. The absolute number of poor people increase in only two scenarios (WB, EU) when the pattern of growth is anti-poor.	There are more poor people in S. Asia than any other region. If pro-poor patterns of growth are attained their number decreases from about 5 hundred million in 1993 to 0.7-2.4 hundred million in 2015.
Latin America and the Caribbean	Poverty incidence decreases in all scenarios by 3-17%.	Latin America has a lower poverty incidence in 1993 than EA&P, SA or
(LA&C)	The absolute number of poor people increases if the pattern of growth is anti poor (WB, EU, GS).	SSA. By 2015, LA&C's poverty incidence is higher than in the EA&P region, while the difference with SA's poverty incidence decreases from 20% higher to only a few percentage points higher in most scenarios.
Eastern Europe (EEUR)	The poverty incidence falls (0.5-1.5%) from a low base in all scenarios (except GS).	The absolute number of poor people may well increase, as compared to past trends the GS scenario is only mildly
	The absolute numbers of poor increase also only in the GS scenario.	pessimistic.

Table 4 shows that the poverty incidence decreases in all regions with two exceptions. Under the Global Shift scenario the poverty incidence is projected to increase in both Eastern Europe and sub-Saharan Africa by 2015, as a results of the negative growth rate of per capita income in these two scenarios. Also it can be seen that when per capita GDP growth is negative (e.g. GS for SSA), the low poverty elasticity (b = -0.5) produces the smallest increase in poverty incidence, as the poor are relatively isolated from the impact of this negative economic growth. ¹⁴

Table 4 also shows that when growth rates are positive, the pattern of growth (and hence the value of elasticity) makes an enormous difference to the incidence of poverty and the absolute number of poor people in 2015. For example, using the World Bank's projections of economic growth, the total number of poor people is about 0.7 billion in 2015 if the pattern of growth is one that is associated with a reduction of the Gini coefficient, while the same level of economic growth combined with worsening income distribution would lead to 1.275 billion people living in poverty, which is almost the same as in 1993. The main findings of these poverty projections are summarised in Table 5.

Our simulation model is a fairly crude tool for projecting future trends in poverty reduction in terms of economic growth in developing regions. One of the things it does not capture is the wide variation of performance in growth and poverty reduction that will occur within regions. At the country level poverty incidence may diverge significantly from the regional average, as it happened in the past (see Chen, Datt and Ravallion 1994). For example, projections for South Asia show the poverty incidence to be less than or equal to 15% in all scenarios by the year 2015. However this is an average figure and it is likely that in some countries the poverty incidence will be well above this level and in others well below it. Economic development between 1960 and 1990 was characterised by increased polarisation and uneven economic growth within regions (Hanmer et al., 1997). While some countries

¹⁴ However, these results are not necessarily accurate. The elasticities used in our model were estimated for positive growth rates and the impact of negative growth on poverty may not be symmetrical to that of positive per capita growth.

experienced sustained economic growth, for others the decades of the 1980s and 1990s were characterised by unsustainable debt levels, lack of access to foreign capital, deterioration in external terms of trade and exclusion from the international economy. If these trends continue into the twenty first century, they could result in increased unevenness, even within regions.

To sum up, while the poverty incidence decreases under all scenarios and in all regions (except one scenario, GS, for sub-Saharan Africa and Eastern Europe), the absolute number of poor people will increase in many regions *even when optimistic growth rates* are forecast. However, if the pattern of growth is one that lowers the Gini coefficient, the number of people living below the poverty line in the year 2015 can be reduced considerably.

4.2. Human development in the year 2015.

Table 6 shows projections of future levels of the HD indicators (school enrolment rates, adult literacy rates and life expectancy) for the four economic growth scenarios. The model used to produce these results differs in some respects from the model used for the poverty projections. Future levels of HD indicators depend not only on economic growth but also on the positive influence of other, autonomous factors; *i.e.* factors that are not captured by the level of economic development alone. Progress that is not reflected in the economic growth rate of the region concerned, e.g. technical progress, medical advances, increased knowledge or progressive political and social changes, can thus affect human development in our model (see Section 3.2).

Table 6 shows that HD indicators improve considerably by the year 2015 for all developing regions. In Latin America, East Asia and the Pacific and Eastern Europe, overall literacy is achieved in the year 2015. Even under the Global Shift scenario, where per capita income growth is negative for Eastern Europe and sub-Saharan Africa, HD indicators still improve, although not as rapidly as in the other growth scenarios. This is consistent with past development trends. In sub-Saharan Africa, for example, the school enrolment ratio

increased three percentage points in the period 1980-93, despite negative per capita income growth during the period.

Table 6. Trends in human development based on GDP per capita

	Combined	d Enrolment			2015	
	1980	Base 1993	WB	BG	EU	GS
SSA	39	42.0	53.8	57.2	53.7	50.3
MENA	48	56.0	63.1	63.3	64.5	64.8
EA&P	51	59.0	82.3	81.9	80.2	82.1
SA	37	52.0	69.3	74.0	68.1	71.9
LAC	59	69.0	78.0	81.3	75.9	78.6
EEUR	na	74.0	84.1	79.0	81.0	74.6
	Literacy				2015	
	1970	Base 1993	WB	BG	EU	GS
SSA	27	55.0	65.7	69.6	65.5	61.8
MENA	29	53.0	62.7	62.9	64.2	64.6
EA&P	65	86.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
SA	31	48.8	69.7	75.2	68.5	72.7
LAC	71	85.9	95.5	99.8	92.9	96.3
EEUR	na	97.6	100.0	100.0	100.0	97.0
	Life expe	ectancy			2015	
	1960	Base 1993	WB	BG	EU	GS
SSA	40.1	50.9	61.9	64.0	61.8	59.8
MENA	45.2	62.1	69.7	69.8	70.5	70.7
EA&P	45.4	63.7	81.2	80.9	79.9	81.1
SA	43.6	60.3	74.0	76.9	73.3	75.6
LAC	55.4	68.5	77.2	79.3	76.0	77.6
EEUR	na	69.2	78.8	75.8	77.0	73.1

The projections also show that by the year 2015:

- · school enrolment and life expectancy in *sub-Saharan Africa* reach the level already achieved by East Asia and the Pacific in 1993;
- · school enrolment in *South Asia* reaches the level achieved by Latin America and the Caribbean in 1993; and
- · literacy in *South Asia* and *sub-Saharan Africa* is still below the level achieved by East Asia and the Pacific and Latin America and the Caribbean in 1993.

Table 7. Trends in female human development indicators

	Comb.Enr.		20	15	
	Base 1993	WB	BG	EU	GS
SSA	37.2	49.3	53.2	49.1	45.3
MENA	51.0	58.0	58.3	59.7	60.1
EA&P	58.1	84.4	83.8	81.7	84.1
SA	43.2	62.8	68.4	61.5	65.9
LAC	68.2	77.6	81.7	75.0	78.4
EEUR	76.5	87.1	80.9	83.4	75.7
	Literacy		20	015	
	Base 1993	WB	BG	EU	GS
SSA	45.4	55.3	60.3	55.1	50.1
MENA	40.4	49.4	49.7	51.3	51.8
EA&P	82.6	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
SA	35.0	58.3	64.9	56.8	62.0
LAC	84.2	93.4	98.0	90.4	94.3
EEUR	96.3	100.0	99.9	100.0	93.6
	Life exp.		2.0)15	
	Base 1993	WB	BG	EU	GS
SSA	52.5	63.7	66.0	63.6	61.3
MENA	64.1	71.7	71.9	72.6	72.9
EA&P	66.0	83.7	83.5	82.5	83.6
SA	60.5	75.0	78.0	74.3	76.6
LAC	71.2	79.9	81.8	78.6	80.2
EEUR	74.2	83.5	80.4	81.7	77.6

Table 7 shows the projected future levels of life expectancy, adult literacy and school enrolment rates for women and girls in 1993 for each scenario.

It is well established in the development literature that improved health and education indicators are linked to the degree of gender equality (this is discussed in greater depth in Chapter 3 of Hanmer et al., 1997). Further, equal access to education and health for women and girls can be viewed as fundamental to their quality of life and as such an integral part of human development, even when disregarding the positive additive effects it has for the population as a whole. Reducing the gender gap in human development is, hence, very important. However, what we see when we compare Table 6 and Table 7 is that school enrolment and adult literacy

for women and girls are lower than the average rate for the population as a whole in all developing regions.

Of particular note from Table 7 are the following points:

- women's and girl's school enrolment and literacy are lowest relative to that of the total population in South Asia;
- in sub-Saharan Africa only about 50% of girls are enrolled in school in 2015;
- girls' school enrolment in the Middle East and North Africa and South Asia (most scenarios) is, in 2015, about the same as girls school enrolment in East Asia and the Pacific in the 1990s;
- East Asia and the Pacific and Eastern Europe (some scenarios) achieve 100% literacy for women and men by 2015; and,
- female life expectancy in sub-Saharan Africa in 2015 reaches the level achieved by East Asia and the Pacific in 1993.

4.3. Policy orientation, poverty and human development.

What then is the impact of policies on poverty and HD indicators projected for 2015? Table 8 shows the results of simulations on differences in the pattern of growth on the school enrolment ratio, literacy and life expectancy. The results are presented for the most optimistic and most pessimistic growth scenario for each region. Some of the main results of the projections are summarised in Table 9.15

The projections for HD indicators show that they will increase by the year 2015, even in the low growth scenario. This is due to the inclusion in our model of the autonomous element, which captures ability factors other than economic growth to influence social development. Our simulations also suggest that policy orientation can be as important as economic growth in achieving improvements in HD indicators. As is true for the preceding projections of poverty, country performance within regions is likely to vary, so similar caveats apply here also.

¹⁵ In Hanmer et al. (1997) we repeat this exercise for the female HD indicators. The results are not reported here as the model's assumptions mean that the same magnitude of change is observed as for the HD indicators shown in Table 8. For some regions the 2015 level of female HD indicators remains lower than that for the population average as they start from a lower base.

Table 8. Pattern of growth and HD indicators for 2015 (most optimistic and most pessimistic growth scenario for each region)

		1002 loval	anti-poor	base-line	pro-poor
Sub-Saharan Africa	***************************************	***************************************			
CER	BG	42	52	57	63
	GS		50	50	50
LIT	BG	55	63	66	69
	GS		61	62	63
LIFE	BG	51	62	64	67
1111 11	GS		60	60	60
Middle East and North Af					
CER	GS	56	62	65	68
CER	WB	50	62	63	65
LIT	GS	53	60	65	69
1.11	WB	55	61	63	65
TIPE	GS	62	69	71	72
LIFE	WB	02	69	70	70
Dark Asia C Alia Danifia	αw		09	70	70
East Asia & the Pacific	wn	50	6 0	82	105
CER	WB	59	60	80	99
	EU	0.4	61		
LIT	WB	86	82	100	100
	EU		84	100	100
LIFE	WB	64	71	81	85
	EU		71	80	85
South Asia					
CER	$BG_{.}$	52	57	74	91
	EU		59	68	78
LIT	BG	49	55	75	97
	EU		57	69	81
LIFE	BG	60	69	77	85
	EU		69	73	78
Latin America and the Ca	aribbean				
CER	BG	69	69	81	94
	EU		72	76	80
LIT	BG	86	83	100	100
	EU		88	93	98
LIFE	BG	69	74	79	85
	EU		74	76	77
Eastern Europe					
CER	WB	74	75	84	93
	GS		72	75	78
LIT	WB	98	97	100	100
Add A	GS	70	93	97	100
LIFE	WB	69	75	79	83
THE T	GS	U J	73 72	73	74

Note: CER = combined enrolment rate; LIT = adult literacy rate; LIFE = life expectancy at birth

Table 9. Summary findings for HD indicators

	Finding	Comment
SSA	Indicators increase 6-16%.	Growth matters. All outcomes in the high growth scenario (BG) are superior to the low growth (GS) scenario. But policy matters too in the BG scenario.
MEN A	Indicators increase 6-16%	Lower growth and pro-poor policies can produce better results than higher growth and anti-poor policies (LIT and CER).
EA&P	Indicators increase about 20% (neutral policy). LIT reaches 100% (all scenarios, neutral policy)	High growth rates ensure improvements in all HD indicators if policy is neutral or pro-poor. With anti-poor polices LIT and CER remain at their 1993 level.
SA	Indicators increase 13-26% (neutral policy). For all policy scenarios the range is 5-28%	Redistributive policies are as important as growth. Lower growth and pro-poor policies can produce better results than higher growth and neutral or anti-poor policies (LIT, LIFE).
LAC	Indicators increase 7-14% (neutral policy). LIT reaches 100% For all policy scenarios the range is 7-25%	Redistributive policies are as important as growth. Lower growth and pro-poor or neutral policies can produce better results than higher growth and anti-poor policies (CER, LIT).
EEUR	Indicators increase 6-19%. LIT reaches 100% with high growth.	Low growth and anti-poor policies produce retrogression (CER, LIT).

4.4. Discussion

Table 10 shows the predicted range of poverty incidences and levels of human development indicators in 2015.

Table 10. The predicted range of poverty incidence and human development indicators in 2015

Region	Poverty	School	Enrolment	Literacy	Life	expectancy
	(%)	(%)		(%)	(years)	
Sub-Saharan Africa	20-40	50-63		61-69	60-67	
Middle East and	3-4	62-68		60-69	69-72	
North Africa						
East Asia and the	2-14	60-100		82-100	71-85	
Pacific						
South Asia	7-30	57-91		55-97	69-85	
Latin America and	6-21	69-94		83-100	74-85	
the Caribbean						
Eastern Europe	2-4	72-93	***************************************	93-100	72-83	

Table 10 shows that poverty incidence in 2015 will still be considerable in several regions of the world. This observation becomes even more important when we realise that our estimates are based on an extreme poverty line. If we had defined poverty in a less extreme way, the incidence in 2015 would be even higher.

What is immediately clear is that poverty incidence will be highest in sub-Saharan Africa, as compared to other world regions. Growth is of paramount importance to reduce poverty. According to our estimations per capita GDP growth rates must reach 2.8 per cent to reduce poverty incidence in sub-Saharan Africa to 25 per cent. This is a very optimistic growth rate. Apart from growth, the policy orientation also matters enormously. Also with regard to HD indicators we can conclude that both growth and policy orientation are important. If, as has been found in South East Asia (see, for example World Bank, 1993; Barro, 1991), higher levels of human capital can also in Africa contribute to higher economic growth, investment in social sector expenditure may be very important. But increasing human capital alone is not sufficient (Hanmer, Pyatt and White, 1996). Pro-poor policies will also have to include measures that ensure that the poor gain increased access to all productive assets, land, labour and capita, and

get the maximum possible return from them. 16 Policies targeting women could be of prime importance.

The prospects for South Asia are brighter than those for sub-Saharan Africa. In 1993 the level of poverty is 43% in South Asia, slightly higher in fact than sub-Saharan Africa's 39% in that year. By the year 2015 the incidence of extreme poverty is reduced to between 13% and 22%. The range of poverty incidence projections for 2015 are premised on per capita income growth rates that either are maintained at their 1993/4 rate of 3.5% or increase to 6% up until the year 2015. For South Asia policy makes an enormous difference to progress achieved in poverty eradication. Consider the moderately optimistic World Bank scenario, (per capita income growth remains at about 3.5% between 1995 and 2000 and increases to about 4% per annum between 2000 and 2015). If policy is pro-poor the poverty incidence falls to 13% in this scenario. Similarly, school enrolment and adult literacy increase from around 50% in 1993 to around 80% in 2015 in the pro-poor policy scenario. Growth is important, but it is most effective in achieving poverty reduction and human development when it is occurs in a policy environment that is associated with a low Gini coefficient and that prioritises human development. Here too, policy interventions should aim to ensure that the poor gain increased access to all productive assets, land, labour and capital, and get the maximum possible return from them.

What is striking about the projections for Latin America and the Caribbean is the relative deterioration of the performance on poverty and human development of this region. In 1993 Latin America and the Caribbean had a lower poverty incidence than South Asia, East Asia and the Pacific and sub-Saharan Africa. Furthermore human development indicators in Latin America and the Caribbean in 1993 were substantially above those for all the other developing regions apart from Eastern Europe. By the year 2015, as a results of growth

¹⁶ See for instance Westphal (1978) and Edwards (1992), who observe that the relative equal distribution of asset holding (particularly land holdings) in Southeast Asia at the onset of rapid industrialization and growth, may be an important explanation for the economic success of these countries.

rate forecasts of 1-4% per capita per annum, the poverty incidence projected for Latin America and the Caribbean will be roughly in the range of South Asia's.

Again, what really makes the difference to poverty reduction in this region is the pattern of growth. Consider, for instance, the World Bank growth scenario of about 2% per capita per annum growth between 1995 and 2015. If policy is pro-poor then poverty incidence falls to 11%, only little above the 10% projected for the BG scenario which forecasts per capita GDP growth increasing from 4% to 4.5% between 1995 and 2015. In fact even with the high rates of growth forecast in the BG scenario, Latin America and the Caribbean can only maintain its relatively favourable position in terms of poverty incidence, if the pattern of growth is one that is associated with a low Gini coefficient (see Table 4).

HD indicators continue to perform well in all scenarios, but, as already noted, pro-poor policies and lower growth can produce better results than higher growth and anti-poor policies.

The Latin America and the Caribbean region contains mainly middle income developing countries. In countries that have a more developed market structure and a larger industrial base greater income equality can be achieved through progressive fiscal policies and other redistributive state policies in addition to policies that increase the poor's access to and returns from productive assets. Typically, only small proportions of the total population earn their living from subsistence farming in these countries, hence policies to increase employment generation and raise labour productivity take on increasing importance in middle income countries.

To summarise, our results imply that growth is important, but also that measures to bring down the Gini coefficient and give the poor access to resources to improve their livelihoods are crucial. What these additional measures are depends on the specific characteristics of the regions (or countries). While in Sub-Saharan Africa redistribution of land may be very important, the

middle income countries in the Latin American region would probably benefit especially from progressive fiscal measures and other redistributive policies.

5. CONCLUDING REMARKS

We started this article with the question of what we can expect in terms of poverty eradication and improvements in human development indicators in the major world regions. Our projections are based on an extreme poverty line of \$1 PPP a day. If a wider range basic expenditures were to be included in the definition of the poverty line, our estimates of future poverty would be higher. Our results show that poverty incidence will reduce in all regions by 2015, under all growth scenarios, except in two cases:

- in sub-Saharan Africa, if per capita GDP growth remains negative or negligible, the percentage of poor people will remain at about 40%; and,
- in Eastern Europe, if per capita GDP growth remains negative, the percentage of poor people will remain at about 3.5% or increase by about 0.5 percentage points.

The regions that are forecast to make most progress in poverty reduction are:

- East Asia and the Pacific, which includes China; here the poverty incidence decreases to 2-4% by 2015;
- South Asia, where several of the scenarios predict the poverty incidence to fall from about 43% to around 20% in 2015; and,
- if growth is associated with a more equal income distribution, three of our four scenarios show that the poverty incidence in Latin America and the Caribbean is reduced by at least 50%.

The poverty numbers show, however, a less rosy future. East Asia and the Pacific is the only region where the absolute number of people living in poverty decreases in all scenarios.

• For sub-Saharan Africa our projections show, that with one exception, the number of people living in poverty increases in all scenarios, under all policies.

• In the Middle East and North Africa the number of people living in poverty increases in all scenarios.

The difference that alternative policies can make to progress in poverty reduction are clearly illustrated by the projected absolute number of poor people in 2015 for some regions. In the lower growth scenarios for South Asia and Latin America and the Caribbean,

• the number of people living in poverty only increases if the pattern of growth is antipoor, i.e. growth is accompanied by increasing inequality in the income distribution.

Projections of human development indicators (combined school enrolment, literacy and life expectancy) show that the levels of these indicators improve considerably by the year 2015 for all developing regions. In Latin America, East Asia and the Pacific and Eastern Europe, overall literacy is achieved in the year 2015. Even under the Global Shift scenario, where per capita income growth is negative for Eastern Europe and sub-Saharan Africa, HD indicators still improve, although not as rapidly as in the other growth scenarios. Two important findings from our HD indicator projections are:

- for sub-Saharan Africa economic growth is of crucial importance in achieving higher levels of HD indicators. Higher growth scenarios produce better HD indicators than lower growth scenarios in all policy variants. But,
- for all other regions there are examples of lower growth and pro-poor policies producing better HD indicators than higher growth and anti-poor or unchanged policies.

Our simulations thus suggest that policy orientation can be as important as economic growth in achieving improvements in HD indicators.

One of our findings that gives rise to a certain amount of optimism regarding the future prospects for poverty and human development is that there is a degree of substitutability between pro-poor policy and economic growth. Sustained per capita GDP growth is a necessary condition for poverty reduction and improvements in HD indicators. But the

good news is that if policy orientation is pro-poor, and the pattern of growth is one that is associated with a more equal distribution of income, progress in poverty eradication and human development can equal the results predicted from higher growth rate scenarios when the income distribution is unchanged or when policies are less pro-poor. Hence, we conclude that progress on poverty reduction and human development can be greatly enhanced if policy adjustments promote greater equity as well as greater economic growth. In many countries, especially low income ones, policy thus needs to not only concerned with growth, but also access to and the distribution of assets, as well as with promoting productive employment generation. A pro-poor strategy automatically involves a pro-women policy.

A discussion of the projected future rates of poverty and human development would not be complete without noting some of the limitations and uncertainties inherent when such an exercise is based on econometric modelling. We start by noting some limitations that are specific to our model and then turn to more general limitations of econometric models for forecasts such as these.

First, we are well aware that our model is almost certainly misspecified in two important respects. The first is that economic growth is not only a cause of human development, but is itself the result of various factors. The relationship between human development and economic growth is a complex one and causality may not be unidirectional, as we have assumed in the model. Also assuming a two-way relationship between the two is, in fact, too simple, as there are other - often country-specific - socio-political factors which play an important role in creating the environment in which human development and economic growth have particular impacts.

The other important aspect which we have not taken into account is that our models fails to capture the influential role that gender relations have in determining progress in human development. Country studies show that gender relations are often key to understanding progress in child welfare, health, education, literacy, poverty reduction and other aspects of

social progress (see Hanmer et al., 1997 for discussion of these issues in greater depth). Recent cognisance of the importance of gender relations in general, and the position of women in particular, for human and social development has prompted efforts by the multilateral institutions to gather data on variables that can be considered indicators of the degree of gender equity or the position of women. The UNDP (1995) Gender-related Development Index and Gender Empowerment Measure are but two examples. However, since time series data on gender indicators do not exist, they could not be incorporated into our models.

Finally we should point out that econometric models are a very blunt tool to carve out representations of the social characteristics of the future. The methodology employed assumes a high degree of continuity with the past. Thus the projections presented above make no allowance for structural breaks with past trends, and hence their results need to be treated with due caution. Most major shocks that cause breaks with past trends are by their nature unpredictable and hence difficult to quantify and incorporate into econometric modelling exercises. However even relatively recent economic history gives examples of shocks to the world economy causing discontinuities and breaks with past trends. In Hanmer *et al.* (1997), we discuss four potential sources of future shocks: technological breakthroughs which *inter alia* may have enormous impact on employment and migration; increasing volatility and unpredictability in some global markets; environmental degradation and natural resource scarcity; and, political instability, war and civil conflict. These caveats should be borne in mind when examining the projections of future poverty and human development indicators presented here.



REFERENCES

- Amsden, Alice H. (1989), Asia's Next Giant, Oxford: OUP.
- Barro, Robert J. (1991), "Economic Growth in a Cross Section of Countries", *Quarterly journal of Economics*, 105 (2): 407-43.
- Chen, Shaohua, Gaurav Datt and Martin Ravallion (1994), "Is Poverty Increasing in the Developing World?", *Review of Income and Wealth*, 40(4):359-376.
- CPB (1992), Scanning the Future: A Long-term Scenario Study of the World Economy 1990-2015, The Hague: Central Planning Bureau.
- Datt, Gaurav, and Martin Ravallion (1992), "Growth and Redistribution Components of Changes in Poverty Measures", *Journal of Development Economics*, 38(2):275-295.
- Edwards, C. (1992), "Industrialization in South Korea", in T. Hewitt et al. (eds.), Industrialization and Development, Oxford: OUP.
- Frühling, Pierre (1996), "Imaginable Futures of Central America", Project 2015, Long Term Development Prospects for Sida's Aid Management, Department of Latin America, Stockholm: Sida.
- Hanmer, Lucia C., G. Pyatt and H. White (1996), *Poverty in Sub-Saharan Africa: What can we learn from the World Bank's Poverty Assessments?*, The Hague: Institute of Social Studies Advisory Services.
- Hanmer, Lucia. C., Niek de Jong, Rachel Kurian and Jos Mooij (1997), Social Development: Past Trends and Future Scenarios, Stockholm: Sida.
- Hopkins, M.J.D. (1980), "A Global Forecast of Absolute Poverty and Employment", International Labour Review, 119(5):565-577.
- ILO(1996a) LABORSTA 1995 (Diskette), Geneva: International Labour Organisation
- ILO(1996b) LABORPROJ 1996 (Diskette), Geneva: International Labour Organisation
- Kakwani, Nanak (1993a), "Poverty and Economic Growth with Application to Côte d'Ivoire", *Review of Income and Wealth*, 39(2):121-139.
- Kakwani, Nanak (1993b), "Performance in Living Standards: An International Comparison", *Journal of Development Economics*, 41(2):307-36.

- Pritchett, Lance, and Lawrence H. Summers (1996), "Wealthier is Healthier", *The Journal of Human Resources*, 31(4):841-868.
- Ravallion, Martin, and Monika Huppi (1991), "Measuring Changes in Poverty: A Methodological Case Study of Indonesia During an Adjustment Period", *The World Bank Economic Review*, 5(1):57-84.
- Ravallion, Martin, and Binayak Sen (1996), "When Method Matters: Monitoring Poverty in Bangladesh", *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 44(4):761-792.
- Westphal, Larry E. (1978), "The Republic of Korea's Experience With Export Led Development, 6:347-82.
- UN (1993), Report on the World Situation, New York: UN.
- UN (1994), Draft Outcomes of the World Summit for Social Development: Draft Declaration and Draft Program of Action, Report of the Secretary General, New York: UN.
- UNDP (various years), Human Development Report, New York: UN.
- UNESCO (1996), International Social Science Journal, 148.
- UNFPA(1996), The State of the World's Population, New York: UN.
- World Bank (1992), The East Asian Miracle, Oxford: OUP.
- World Bank (1990, 1993), World Development Report, Washington D.C.: World Bank.
- World Bank (1995), World Tables 1995, Washington D.C.: World Bank.
- World Bank (1996a), Global Economic Prospects and the Developing Countries, Washington D.C.: World Bank.
- World Bank (1996b), Poverty Reduction and the World Bank, Washington D.C.: World Bank.

TECHNICAL APPENDIX

Simulations of poverty

To estimate the poverty elasticity with respect to GDP per capita, we pooled the 1985 and 1990 estimates of poverty incidence and corresponding GDP per capita figures, specifying a double log function of poverty incidence on GDP per capita. In the first instance we included slope and intercept dummies to account for shifts of the intercept and changes in the slope of the curve between the two years, but these dummies were not statistically significant. Probably five years is too short to capture any such differences econometrically. So our final model became:

$$\ln H_{0t} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ln RGDP_t + \varepsilon_t,$$

where:

 H_{0t} = incidence of poverty in year t

 $RGDP_t = GDP$ per capita in year t

We hypothesized that a country's poverty elasticity is likely to vary systematically with its income inequality. To test this hypothesis we classified the pooled cross country data, according to the Gini coefficient, into low, medium and high income inequality groups. This yielded three statistically significant different poverty elasticities (see Table A.1). The F-value of the Chow test is equal to 9.01, compared to a critical value of $F_{(4,78)}$ of about 5.68.

Table A.1: Estimation of Poverty Incidence

Sample	n	b_0	b_1	R^2	F	F Chow-
1		-				test
Pooled 1985 and	84	11.0	-1.1	0.362	46.55	9.01
1990		(9.24)	(-6.82)			
ibid., $Gini < 0.4$	31	14.6	-1.6	0.540	33.99	-
Low inequality		(7.06)	(-5.83)			
ibid., $0.4 \le Gini$	24	10.6	-1.0	0.377	13.29	-
≤ 0.5		(4.83)	(-3.65)			
Medium						
inequality						
ibid., Gini > 0.5	29	8.2	-0.6	0.536	31.14	-
High inequality		(9.70)	(-5.58)		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	·····

Note: t-statistics in parentheses

To see how economic growth with different degrees of income inequality effects the influence of poverty (hereafter referred to as different patterns of growth), we produced projections of HD indicators for each growth scenario using the three poverty elasticities. Thus, for each region we have four growth scenarios, with three different poverty elasticities.

Simulations of human development indicators

To estimate the human development indicators we started by specifying a semi-log instead of a double-log function:

$$HD_{t} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} \ln RGDP_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{t} ,$$

where:

 HD_t = Human Development indicator in year t

 $RGDP_{t-1} = GDP$ per capita in year t-1

The reason for specifying a semi-log function is that the distributions of the HD indicators are fairly symmetrical. A log transformation of the data would yield skewed distributions.

Furthermore, scatter plots of HD indicators on GDP per capita supported the use of this functional form. For combined enrolment (CENR) there are only observations for 1993, but for life expectancy and adult literacy there are both observations for the early 1970s and for 1993. Comparison of the scatter plots of the two cross-sections for each of these two indicators suggests that the curves have shifted over time, *i.e.* that the intercepts have increased and the slopes have decreased. To test whether these changes are statistically significant, we regressed the pooled samples, as well as separate samples for the early 1970s and of 1993. The results of the Chow tests indicate that pooling is not valid, neither in the case of life expectancy (LE), nor for that of literacy (LIT) (Table A.2).

Table A.2: Estimation of Human Development

*******************************	********	****************				
Sample	n	b_0	b_1	R ²	F	F (Chow-
					(Regr.)	test)
LE,	217	-15.02	9.64	0.687	470.87	22.40
pooled		(-4.29)	(21.70)			
LE, 1970-	124	-18.38	9.76	0.649	225.80	-
73		(-3.66)	(15.03)			
LE, 1993	93	-3.94	8.65	0.793	348.20	-
		(-1.05)	(18.66)			
LIT,	137	-74.62	18.54	0.592	196.08	8.17
pooled		(-7.07)	(14.00)			
•						
LIT,	46	-	26.02	0.581	60.98	-
1970-73		136.83	(7.81)			
		(-5.30)				
LIT, 1993	91	-52.36	16.04	0.641	158.78	-
		(-5.08)	(12.60)			
CENR,	91	-49.74	14.02	0.684	192.16	-
1993		(-6.08)	(13.86)	***************************************		

Note: t-statistics in parentheses

For life expectancy, the calculated F-value is 22.40, against a critical value of $F_{(2, 213)}$ of about 3.04; for literacy, the calculated F-value is 8.17, compared to a critical value of $F_{(2, 133)}$ of about 3.07.

In addition, to see whether both intercept and slope changed significantly over time, we regressed a pooled sample and included intercept and slope dummies (Table A.3). In the case of life expectancy, the intercept dummy is significant but the slope dummy is not. In the case of literacy, both the intercept and the slope dummies are statistically significant.

Table A.3: Estimation of Human Development with Time Dummies

Sample	n	b_0	b_1	d _{interce}	d_{slope}	R^2	F (Regr.)
LE,	217	-18.38 (-4.14)		14.44 (2.23)		0.74 1	203.19
LIT, pooled	137	- 136.84 (-6.29)	26.02 (9.27)	84.48 (3.43)	-9.98 (-3.17)	0.63 7	77.75

Note: t-statistics in parentheses

A lower slope in the latter period implies that over time the HD indicator has become less responsive to economic growth. To achieve a unit improvement in an HD indicator in 1990 more economic growth is necessary than say, would have been required in 1970.

The upward shift of the intercept term that factors other than growth of GDP per capita of a country in question are becoming increasingly important for achieving higher human development. Such factors are not necessarily country specific, as they may, for example, include technical progress which has global effects.

If we extrapolate both these tendencies to the future, the slope coefficients will in 20 years from now have declined even further, whereas the intercept will have increased. We assume in the projection models that these tendencies hold for all the HD indicators, including combined enrolment.

Due to limited data availability we estimated cross-section models of HD indicators, rather than time series ones. To project HD indicators we have to extrapolate from a cross section of countries to a future time series. We thus included an element that captures the diminishing effectiveness of per capita GDP growth at higher levels of national income. If

this were not included, the combination of constant growth and a semi-log functional form would lead to constant rates of increases of the HD indicators over time. However a linear trend over time is however not plausible as there are limits to the extent HD indicators can increase, e.g. 100% in the case of literacy. In the projection model therefore included a quadratic term, the square of logged GDP per capita, implying that the effect of growth on HD indicators diminishes over time. For each of the HD indicators, the coefficients were estimated using the 1993 sample. The estimated coefficients of squared log GDP are negative, whereas those of log GDP remain positive. To model the effect of a higher intercept coefficient over time we added an autonomous component to the model. Thus, the projection model is specified as follows:

$$HD_t = b_0 + b_1 \ln RGDP_{t-1} + b_2 (\ln RGDP_{t-1})^2 + CAU_t$$
,

where:

 HD_t = Human Development indicator in year t

 $RGDP_{t-1}$ = Regional GDP per capita in year t-1

 CAU_t = autonomous component in year t

The negative value of the coefficient (b2) can result in falling HD indicators when rapid economic growth combines with a low slope coefficient, as in this case the negative influence of the coefficient of quadratic term is greater than the positive influence effect of the coefficient of log GDP on the HD indicator. The autonomous component incorporates global and national changes of factors other than per capita GDP that influence human development. We assumed that the effect of this factor on the human development indicators is inversely related to the level of human development. So in regions where human development is lower, the growth of the "other factors" has a bigger impact than in regions with a higher level of human development. The functional form of autonomous growth in year t () CAU_t) is as follows:

$$\Delta CAU_t = \frac{cau}{(HD_{t-1})^2}$$

where *CAU* is the fixed coefficient of autonomous growth. The value of *cau* was chosen arbitrarily to yield a shift of the intercept which is inversely related to the previous year's level of HD indicators and equal to 0.5 percentage point in 1994 in the case of the region with the lowest 1993 level of the HD indicator. For example, the combined enrolment ratio (CER) is lowest in sub-Saharan Africa in 1993. The *cau* was set at the value that resulted in the projected CER for sub-Saharan Africa in 1994 to increase by an additional 0.5 percentage points.

The estimated coefficients of per capita GDP are, of course, averages for the cross section of countries. In order to capture the fact that in some countries HD indicator levels diverge from the expected value we varied the coefficients by one standard error. Each growth scenario, hence, has three variants: neutral policy, pro-poor policy and an anti-poor policy. The neutral policy variant is one where policy reflects average past trends. In the pro-poor variant the coefficient is increased by one standard error and, hence, economic growth has a larger impact on HD indicators than in the base (neutral policy) case. In the anti-poor policy variant one standard error is deducted from the coefficient. In the anti-poor scenario the low coefficient means, as noted earlier that HD indicators can decrease in the presence of rapid economic growth.